### University of Montana

### ScholarWorks at University of Montana

Graduate Student Theses, Dissertations, & Professional Papers

**Graduate School** 

2020

## PRIORITIZING PARCELS FOR CONSERVATION EASEMENTS USING LEAST-COST PATH ANALYSES OF LAND OWNERSHIP: CASE STUDY WITHIN THEORIZED GRIZZLY BEAR MIGRATION CORRIDORS OF WESTERN MONTANA

Joseph H. Offer University of Montana, Missoula

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.umt.edu/etd

Part of the Geographic Information Sciences Commons, Natural Resources and Conservation Commons, Natural Resources Management and Policy Commons, and the Physical and Environmental Geography Commons
Let us know how access to this document benefits you.

#### **Recommended Citation**

Offer, Joseph H., "PRIORITIZING PARCELS FOR CONSERVATION EASEMENTS USING LEAST-COST PATH ANALYSES OF LAND OWNERSHIP: CASE STUDY WITHIN THEORIZED GRIZZLY BEAR MIGRATION CORRIDORS OF WESTERN MONTANA" (2020). *Graduate Student Theses, Dissertations, & Professional Papers*. 11660.

https://scholarworks.umt.edu/etd/11660

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at ScholarWorks at University of Montana. It has been accepted for inclusion in Graduate Student Theses, Dissertations, & Professional Papers by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks at University of Montana. For more information, please contact scholarworks@mso.umt.edu.

## PRIORITIZING PARCELS FOR CONSERVATION EASEMENTS USING LEAST-COST PATH ANALYSES OF LAND OWNERSHIP: CASE STUDY WITHIN THEORIZED

### GRIZZLY BEAR MIGRATION CORRIDORS OF WESTERN MONTANA

By

### JOSEPH HENRY OFFER

B.S., Western Oregon University, Monmouth, Oregon, 2013 A.S., Lane Community College, Eugene, Oregon, 2011

Thesis

presented in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science (Community and Environmental Planning) in Geography

> The University of Montana Missoula, MT

> > October 27th, 2020

Committee:

Dr. David Shively, Chair Department of Geography

Dr. Alex Metcalf, Department of Society and Conservation

Mr. Kevin McManigal, Department of Forest Management

> Dr. Jeremy Sage, Department of Geography

Offer, Joseph, M.S., 2020

### Geography

### PRIORITIZING PARCELS FOR CONSERVATION EASEMENTS USING LEAST-COST PATH ANALYSES OF LAND OWNERSHIP: CASE STUDY WITHIN THEORIZED GRIZZLY BEAR MIGRATION CORRIDORS OF WESTERN MONTANA

Chairperson: Dr. David Shively

As the world's human population has grown and converted large natural habitats to human dominated landscapes, the planet's biodiversity has decreased. To combat the loss of biodiversity from human development, many conservation professionals champion the concept of conservation corridors between intact habitats. Conservation corridors, made up of protected land, serve as a connection for wildlife populations to intermix genetics and, subsequently, help reduce the risk of extinction. The ideal geographic location of corridors is generally determined through geographic information system modeling using biophysical conditions and theorized animal movement. However, the resulting corridors are often expansive and protecting entire corridors is usually impossible. Therefore, determining where conservation actions, such as placing a conservation easement on a private parcel, have the most opportunity for connecting landscapes is key to maximizing benefits with limited resources.

This study examines how public land can be considered as protected habitat, due to federal mandates, and serve as a facilitating factor for establishing conservation corridors with conservation easements on private parcels. It utilizes least cost pathway analyses within theorized grizzly bear migration corridors of western Montana to show the potential for conservation easements to provide connectivity of protected lands within conservation corridors. The case study compares differing cost values for varying land ownership types to aid in corridor implementation planning. From the analysis, the resulting least cost pathways show promise for identifying individual private parcels, and therefore specific areas, within the larger wildlife corridor for concentrated conservation action. The approach shows promise for land trusts and other organizations working to place conservation easements on parcels with the highest conservation opportunity to connect large intact landscapes.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Thanks to all who have helped me along at various steps of this project. David Shively for his willingness to work through changes of ideas and timelines, again and again, and again. Kevin McManigal for teaching me everything I know about geographic information systems, and for being a great supporter throughout my graduate school experience. Alex Metcalf for his direction and interest in this project, if only I had reached out earlier. Jeremy Sage for his guidance on focusing this study and instruction. Montana Land Reliance staff members, especially Matt Bell, for bringing the need for this study to my attention and for early guidance on the project's direction. Morgan Anderson and Ryan Rock for countless hours spent helping me hone this project's scope over two years of coursework together and, more importantly, support as officemates and through great friendships. Finally, to my family and friends for continuing to push me to take this study off the backburner when there were so many other pulls for my time and energy.

### Contents

Introduction	n 1
Background	3
	Biodiversity, Habitat Fragmentation, and Conservation
	Corridor and Least Cost Pathway Modeling5
	Grizzly Bear Migration Corridors9
	Peck et al's Study: Potential Paths for Male-Mediated Gene Flow to and from an Isolated Grizzly Bear Populations 12
Methods	16
	Data Acquisition and Preparation16
	Least Cost Path Modeling and Analysis 19
Results	24
	Overall Process24
	Model One: All Equal24
	Model Two: Public and Private with Conservation Easements Equal
	Model Three: Public/Conservation Easements/Private
Discussion	43
	Overall Case Study Outcomes
	Study Issues
	Further Research and Implementation49
Conclusion	50
References	52

### LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Current and historic grizzly bear range (Range data from George A. Feldhamer et al. 2003)
Figure 2. Current grizzly bears range and developed migration movement corridors from Peck et al's study in relation to western Montana's largest population centers and mountain ranges
Figure 3. Overall framework of this study's GIS methods20
Figure 4. The entire study area from Peck et al's grizzly bear migration corridor study, with the three corridors used for further study within this study23
Figure 5. LCPs produced from the equal value resistance model of ownership within the project's study area
Figure 6. LCPs produced from the public and conservation easement equal resistance model of ownership within the project's study area
Figure 7. LCPs produced from the public, conservation easement, and private land unequal resistance model of ownership
Figure 8. The LCPs from the central corridor of the public, conservation easement, and private land unequal resistance model of ownership
Figure 9. LCPs from the western corridor of the public, conservation easement, and private land unequal resistance model of ownership
Figure 10. LCPs from the eastern section of the public, conservation easement, and private land unequal resistance model of ownership40
Figure 11. LCPs from the first (control) and third models, showing the difference in geographic footprint as the intricacy of resistance scoring increased

### LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Associated cost values for each of the three model's resistance surfaces
Table 2. The different geographic constraints of the project's LCP models within theproject's overall study area.24
Table 3. Selected metrics for the central corridor's LCPs of the equal resistance model.27
Table 4. Selected metrics for the western corridor's LCPs of the equal resistance model.
Table 5. Selected metrics for the eastern corridor's LCPs of the equal resistance model.
Table 6. Selected metrics for the LCP products of the public and conservation easementequal resistance model.32
Table 7. Differences between selected metrics of the central corridor's LCPs public and conservation easement equal model compared with the control (Model 1)
Table 8. Selected metrics for the central corridor's LCPs of the public, conservationeasement, private land unequal resistance model
Table 9. Selected metrics for the western corridor's LCPs of the public, conservationeasement, private land unequal resistance model
Table 10. Selected metrics for the eastern corridor's LCPs of the public, conservationeasement, private land unequal resistance model
Table 11. Differences between selected metrics of the LCPs in public, conservation easement, and private unequal model as compared to the control (Model 1)

### Introduction

Protecting wildlife corridors has become a frequently cited solution to the world's decreasing biodiversity (Mateo-Sánchez, Cushman, and Saura 2014). Corridors are intact habitat through which animals can move in marginalized landscapes between larger expansive habitats. Fully protected wildlife corridors are called conservation corridors and are a collection of parcels with various ownership types (Iftekhar and Tisdell 2014). The creation of fully protected conservation corridors can be accomplished by multiple means of land-use planning related actions, ranging from policy creation to wholesale acquisition (Rissman et al. 2007). A middle-ground alternative to these two approaches is the placement of conservation easements on private property. Easements are a legally binding agreement between a landowner and an external party, often a land trust or similar conservation organization, that restricts development on the impacted parcel. When compared to land use policy, conservation easements are often more attainable then largescale policy creation and are less costly than complete acquisition, making them an ideal tool for corridor construction (Farmer et al. 2011).

Although conservation easements are a practical and realistic protection option, they still require resources to implement, such as staff time from the easement holding organization and money for their purchase. Therefore, when considering an entire corridor for protection the ability to prioritize individual parcels or regions within the entire wildlife corridor is important (Schuster and Arcese 2015). This study considers the potential of least cost pathway (LCP) modeling to identify parcels, and subsequently their surrounding areas, for prioritization. Since corridors run through a patchwork of land with differing ownership, from public to private, the different ownership types can be classified by their potential for protection. Public lands hold strong protection potential due to federal regulations, such as the National Environmental Policy Act and the Endangered Species Act, whereas, private land is only encumbered by existing land use policies, which are often negligible and, therefore, have minimal protection potential (Said et al. 2016; Copeland et al. 2013).

To test the feasibility of utilizing LCP modeling for prioritization, this study considers a set of theorized grizzly bear migration movement corridor within western Montana as a case study for application of the conservation easement approach to corridor creation. Western Montana's landscape between the Greater Yellowstone Ecosystem (GYE) and Northern Continental Divide Ecosystem (NCDE), where the bear's two isolated populations live, is a collage of private and public lands that has long been prioritized by conservation organizations, such as the Yukon to Yellowstone Conservation Initiative and Vital Ground Land Trust, for corridor protection. This study 's LCP analyses provide a spatially explicit prioritization of privately owned parcels. Such an ability to identify parcels for conservation action by land trusts and other conservation organizations should prove to be of value for efforts to protect grizzly bear migration corridors between the Greater Yellowstone and Northern Continental Divide Ecosystems. The study's products, while specific for the region, show the potential and importance of considering such analyses for future corridor protection work throughout the world where ownership types restrict protection possibilities. Additionally, the modeling approach employed in this study, which links biophysical modeling of wildlife movement potential with the realities of protecting existing conditions, is a unique contribution to the conservation field in its current state.

### Background

### **Biodiversity, Habitat Fragmentation, and Conservation**

Natural systems have generally experienced a significant decrease in biodiversity throughout the world over the last half century. One of the leading causes of decreased biodiversity has been rampant human development, and its associated land conversion (Hautier et al. 2015; Newbold et al. 2016). As development has spread and land uses have changed, landscapes that were once able to support wildlife populations over vast connected ecosystems and habitats have been diminished and become disconnected and fragmented. Habitat fragmentation is the division of large-scale natural landscapes and habitat into smaller disconnected tracts. The reduction and disconnection of these original expansive habitats causes once connected wildlife populations to become isolated and vulnerable to localized extinctions (Parks and Harcourt 2002). This increased risk of extinction is caused by many things, not the least of which is bottlenecking of genetic diversity within the smaller populations. Decreased genetic variability from isolation can lead to a lack of genetic fitness and an inability to adapt to changing conditions and subsequently extinction (Lande 1998).

To combat the fragmentation of natural environments and its detrimental impacts on biodiversity through localized extinctions, the field of conservation planning arose in the latter half of the 20<sup>th</sup> century (Margules and Pressey 2000; Bottrill and Pressey 2012). Informed by the principles of conservation biology, conservation planning is a landscape-based approach to mitigating adverse environmental changes through collaborative planning processes that aim to conserve and connect existing, and potential, habitats. One of the many apparatuses that has been born from conservation planning for connecting fragmented habitats across wide-expanses of varied landscapes

is conservation corridors (Keeley et al. 2018). Conservation corridors function as protected lands, through any number of techniques, ranging from policy formation to wholesale acquisition, that link larger habitats through developed and marginalized landscapes (Beier et al. 2008). While conservation corridors are a common tool of conservation planning, their creation can be difficult. Using land-use policy to create conservation corridors can be cumbersome and encompass a painstakingly long timeline, due to political climates and bureaucratic processes (Stokes et al. 2010). Examples of planning process related conservation corridors are wildlife corridor overlay zones in Ventura County, California and Vermont's wildlife corridor land-use directives (Rudnick et al. 2012). And local governments and conservation organizations find that fee simple acquisition of enough land to fully complete a conservation corridor is generally cost prohibitive (Nobrega et al. 2009). Therefore, corridors are generally constructed using multiple conservation planning tools including regulatory policy, land acquisition, and conservation easements on targeted land parcels (Iftekhar and Tisdell 2014).

Conservation easements are a legally binding restriction, or severance, of development rights from a land parcel's deed and are generally held as an agreement between the parcel's owner and a conservation organization, frequently a land trust (Stroman, Kreuter, and Gan 2016). Unlike regulatory policy, conservation easements can be completed without burdensome political activities and are significantly cheaper than complete fee simple acquisition (Naidoo et al. 2006). This is because most conservation easements are entered into on a voluntary basis by the landowner due to personal motivation to protect the land's natural characteristics or the desire for reduced tax burdens associated with reduced development potential (Bastian et al. 2017). However, it is important to note that motivations vary and are among the many aspects of conservation easements that are in need of further academic study (Farmer et al. 2011). The difference in cost between easements and fee purchase agreements is due to the landowner retaining control of the land, albeit with limitations as outlined in the easement's specific language (Schuster and Arcese 2015). These two characteristics make conservation easements among the most practical of options for landscape managers in completing targeted conservation measures, such as conservation corridors (Main, Roka, and Noss 1999; Hardy, Hepinstall-Cymerman, and Fowler 2016). Additionally, another benefit of conservation easements is the ability for one easement to lead to another. It has been shown that the feelings of neighboring landowners towards entering into an easement with a conservation organization frequently increase after a neighbor or community member has already done so (Vizek and Nielsen-Pincus 2017). However, conservation easements are not a perfect fit as they too require financial resources for their acquisition and staff time for the organizations that hold and execute conservation easements.

### **Corridor and Least Cost Pathway Modeling**

Due to the difficulties and expenses associated with establishing conservation corridors, and for all conservation planning more generally, identification of the most ecologically valuable land for wildlife movement between protected habitats is of extreme importance. Coincidentally, with the advent of conservation planning came an increased ability for wildlife movements to be modelled by geographic information systems (GIS). GIS technology has allowed biologists to use known animal behaviors to predict theoretical movements of animals as they traverse a landscape. In fact, habitat and movement modeling are among the most widely used applications of GIS within conservation biology and ecology (Baldwin et al. 2014; Perkl 2016). Specifically, among the most common methods used to model animal habitat preference and movement is the analysis and creation of movement corridors (Shirabe 2018). Movement corridors within GIS models are often created using a theorized resistance layer, known as a cost surface, to determine the overall "cost of movement" for a desired action over a landscape. In the modeling, the cost surface is the most important part of the model, as it significantly determines the model's outcomes (Zeller et al. 2017). However, creating cost surfaces can be extremely difficult and often includes significant subjectivity. Frequently the layers are produced solely from expert analysis of landscape characteristics, animal behavior, and the theorized impact of geographic features on the species for which the model is created (Clevenger et al. 2002; Zeller, McGarigal, and Whiteley 2012). Once the surface is created, a corridor analysis tool is run using source and destination locations situated within the cost surface layer's geographic footprint. Source and destination points are generally intact functional habitats known to support the species in question. The final theorized movement corridor is a product of the cost surface, source and destination locations, and selected level of randomness allowed for movement. Randomization levels are important for wildlife movement modeling due to the fact that animals will not always take the shortest and most direct path, therefore a wide swath of habitat must be identified and allowed for likely movement. The corridor created from these analyses represents the most likely geographic setting for movement, as determined by the resistance values on the cost surface, between the source and destination, and can serve as a blueprint for conservation actions by identifying the most ecologically important areas within a landscape for connecting fragmented wildlife populations (S. A. Cushman, McKelvey, and Schwartz 2009; S. A. Cushman, Lewis, and Landguth 2013). This is of immense importance for maintaining or restoring habitat connectivity as it helps prioritize the areas with the most benefit for wildlife movement. Knowing where animals are most likely to move between two protected habitats often translates into too large of an area to realistically protect using the planning tools outlined above. This is especially true today as conservation activity throughout the world faces decreased budgets and seemingly more objectives than ever before (Remme and Schröter 2016; Brooks et al. 2006). Therefore, to fit within the constraints of limited resources, more geographically explicit areas and realistic prioritizations of land for corridor protection must be identified (Lombard et al. 2010; Arponen 2012). There are many ways to narrow down the larger habitat models to provide realistic avenues for protection. Perhaps the most logical is the same tool used to create the movement corridors in the first place, GIS. Modeling within a GIS can be used to further breakdown wildlife habitat models to identify the greatest impacts to movement within the entire wildlife corridor, be those infrastructure developments or incompatible land uses (Nobrega et al. 2009; Perkl 2016). This type of modeling has been conducted for all sorts of animals, from salamanders to elephants, with the overall goal of gaining a better understanding of the areas necessary for linking the habitats theorized as most important for migration between intact habitats (Wang, Savage, and Shaffer 2009). Many studies and models have gone even further, using GIS tools to specifically identify the most ideal individual locations, and even procedures, for protections within determined wildlife habitat (Snyder et al. 2008; Lee, Chon, and Ahn 2011). The common thread between these studies has been the tool utilized for prioritization within the study areas. Using a cost surface with theorized resistance values for conservation

protections is nearly identical to the methods used for determining wildlife movement preferences over a landscape. However, in the case of human activities (e.g., development, protection, other land use activities) the need to address unpredicted movement via randomness is negated (Pullinger and Johnson 2010). Without randomization, the model is known as a least cost pathway (LCP), which is a generated line between the selected source and destination locations with the absolute lowest theorized cost of movement over the cost surface. From previous research in conservation corridor prioritization modeling (S. A. Cushman, Lewis, and Landguth 2013; Pressey, Visconti, and Ferraro 2015), it has been shown that there are a wide variety of outcomes produced by different approaches to LCP creation. Therefore, multiple studies have called for increased research that will lead to the standardization of tools and models for identifying suitable elements, such as land ownership or cost of land acquisition, for conservation corridor construction (Pullinger and Johnson 2010).

While different approaches may be taken in modeling the wildlife ranges needed as the base for conservation corridors, perhaps the most widely used is the multi-species approach (Dilkina et al. 2017). Another method for corridor modeling is through the usage of an umbrella species as the species for which the corridor's habitat modeling is directed (Carroll, Noss, and Paquet 2001; Beier, Majka, and Spencer 2008). In general, analyses of past conservation corridors have shown that habitat models for umbrella species, often large apex carnivores, include habitat for a large number of additional wildlife species (Carroll, Noss, and Paquet 2001). This is caused by the need for these large animals to cover large expanses of land to meet their habitat and foraging needs. Another benefit of using umbrella species is that they commonly fit into the classification of charismatic megafauna. This means that the species are well known and

can often generate public support for conservation measures, whether that is public policy or funding for easements and acquisition (Clucas, McHugh, and Caro 2008; Minin and Moilanen 2014).

### **Grizzly Bear Migration Corridors**

The grizzly bear (Ursus arctos horribilis) of North America represents a classic example of a species that fits the bill for being an umbrella species with large appeal as a charismatic megafauna species. Grizzly bears are emblematic of the American West and require large home territories, making the species an ideal candidate for usage as a corridor creating species (Carroll, Noss, and Paquet 2001). Together with these characteristics, grizzly bears within the lower 48 live within a highly fragmented landscape. The species was listed (as endangered) under the endangered species act in 1975, and since then grizzly bear populations have increased throughout their range in the contiguous United States. However, the population of grizzly bears in the country is divided between two distinct ecosystems lacking connectivity, the Northern Continental Divide Ecosystem (NCDE) and the Greater Yellowstone Ecosystem (GYE), both of which can be classified as ecosystems with extensive protected lands surrounded by lands at risk of development (Walker and Craighead 1997; White et al. 2017). While the NCDE population has strong genetic variability from connectivity with Canadian grizzly bear populations, bears within the GYE are genetically isolated due to a lack of migration between the two populations (Figure 1) (Proctor et al. 2012; 2015). Biologists have long cautioned about the continued viability of isolated bear populations due to inbreeding and genetic health (Kendall et al. 2009; Mace et al. 2012). Due to these fears, the establishment of connectivity between the two isolated grizzly bear populations has

been identified as a priority for wildlife managers in Montana, Idaho and Wyoming (White et al. 2017). With the population's growing numbers, there is great potential for reestablishing connectivity that has not existed since the populations were originally disconnected by westward expansion and hunting in the early 1900's (Bjornlie et al. 2014).



Figure 1. Current and historic grizzly bear range (Range data from George A. Feldhamer et al. 2003).

## Peck et al's Study: Potential Paths for Male-Mediated Gene Flow to and from an Isolated Grizzly Bear Populations

Recently, to better understand where connections between the NCDE and GYE populations could be made, researchers from the Interagency Grizzly Bear Study Team (IGBST), Montana Fish, Wildlife and Parks and the Wyoming Game and Fish Department produced a model of corridors for potential migration of male grizzly bears (males generally colonize new habitats) in the landscape between the NCDE and GYE (Peck et al. 2017). Their corridors were created using a step-selection function to produce resistance layers using ecological, physical, and anthropogenic landscape features informed by known GPS locations and movements for 124 male grizzly bears in the study area. The specific resistance layers included data relating to stream/riparian presence, roadways (all types), and human development, all of which can influence habitat and movement preferences of grizzly bears. From these conductance layers the team used a randomized shortest path model to estimate the amount of theorized grizzly bear movements over all grid cells within the geographic region of focus. The resulting number of passages between source and destination, being the NCDE and GYE, over grid cells produced an estimation of movement potential. From this analysis, the areas within the study area with the highest amount of movement potential were identified as representing areas with the highest ecological importance for grizzly bear movement and habitation between the two populations' current ranges.

In the study team's final product, multiple distinct corridors are apparent. The corridors generally run along mountain ranges and encompass lands corresponding to several of Montana's national forests (Figure 2). Each of the corridors, however, also run into constrictions near western Montana's population centers. These constrictions are a fundamental issue for the long-term usage of the team's data, and generally for any wildlife movement model, because models can only consider the state of the landscape at the time of the study. Therefore, rather than showing long term habitat, Peck et al's study and similar wildlife movement models show the areas in most need of protection to prevent landscape changes (i.e., development) from occurring before the constrictions become permanent. Western Montana, the study's focus region, is experiencing strong population growth and development (i.e., land conversion) due to amenity migration (Shafer 2015), a trend that has been apparent over the last several decades (Gosnell, Haggerty, and Travis 2006). These developments threaten the viability of these potential corridors and their future connectivity with the NCDE and GYE.



Figure 2. Current range and migration movement corridors of grizzly bears from Peck et al's study in relation to western Montana's largest population centers and mountain ranges.

This case study, then, considers the prioritization of privately owned parcels of land for protection through conservation easements to create a fully protected conservation corridor between the GYE and NCDE to link the separate two grizzly bear populations. Such a corridor would also help to facilitate the long-term viability of wildlife movement for all species that inhabit the same landscape. To do so, the study uses least cost pathway analyses within ESRI's ArcGIS software to determine the most direct routes across public and private lands within the theorized grizzly bear migration corridors. Using Peck et al's grizzly bear migration corridors as a framework for examining parcels, the modeling used the known distribution of grizzly bears in the largely protected landscapes of the NCDE and GYE to identify a complete conservation corridor between the two ecosystems. It is important to note that this study does not seek to validate the products of Peck et al's study on potential biophysically-based grizzly bear migration corridors. Instead, this study uses Peck et al's products as a framework to move from theoretical biophysically-based modeling to realistic conservation action. This assessment was completed with the goal of producing a guide for cooperative action between land trusts and other land managers within the study area. Subsequently, an additional goal of this study was to show the potential for this approach to be applied to additional biophysical movement studies, which in turn would allow for such modeling to be used as a tool for standardizing the identification and prioritization of conservation efforts on individual parcels when creating conservation corridors across the planet.

### Methods

### **Data Acquisition and Preparation**

To develop models that produce the most direct and cost-effective protected conservation corridor based on grizzly bear migration corridors in western Montana, the first step was to obtain the needed geographic shapefiles and raster files. This study benefited greatly from the state of Montana's state library geographic information clearinghouse (http://geoinfo.msl.mt.gov/). This online clearinghouse contained all necessary cadastral data, as well as shapefiles for public lands and conservation easements across the state. Additionally, all needed shapefiles for grizzly bear habitat and population range were readily available through the federal government's geographic data website (https://catalog.data.gov/).

The most important base data were the migration corridors developed by the IGBST, which are publicly available as raster datasets

(https://www.sciencebase.gov/catalog/item/59149ee6e4boe541a03e9a58). Within its study, the IGBST ran multiple analyses of different theorized migration directions, from the NCDE to the GYE, from the GYE to the NCDE, and an analysis using movement modeling in both directions. Additionally, the team ran their model at three levels of randomization, thereby producing three spatially distinct datasets for each of the three directional models. Because of the multiple analyses (nine total), determining which dataset to use for this analysis and how to utilize the selected dataset was among the first issues for this study. Ultimately, the dataset representing movement in both directions from the two grizzly bear populations was selected, as it allowed for a more geographically constrained analysis, while also encompassing all theorized potential movements. In terms of the level of randomness selected for the multi-directional modeling, the model with the highest level of randomness was selected so as not to constrain the model artificially. However, even with the migration data selected, the next question for the study was how to exclude erroneous information in the selected dataset. Most of western Montana was used as the geographic setting for the conductance layer for movement in the IGBST's study; therefore, raster cells throughout the larger region contained values for movement potential. To limit the raster data to only the parts of the landscape with significant movement potential, the selected IGBST model's corresponding raster file was modified to contain only cells with a movement potential of .05 (5%) or higher. In doing so the resulting raster file contained only cells within a fully connected corridor and removed stray cells or fingers without connections between the two ecosystems.

The next step was compiling the shapefiles for private and public ownership, as well as conservation easements in western Montana. Private ownership data were derived from the state's cadastral database by overlaying a shapefile showing the nearly 600,000 records of all private and public parcels with state's shapefile for publicly owned land (federal, state, tribal, and municipal) and erasing the public parcels. For a more complete study of parcel ownership of interest for the conservation corridor, a vector file containing conservation easements in Montana was also be obtained. The same process for erasing data from the parsed cadastral shapefile was executed to remove parcels with already existing conservation easements. After simplifying the three base layers of ownership types (private, private with a conservation easement in place, and public), the three files were then be merged to create a single vector file, and further simplified using the dissolve tool in ESRI's ArcGIS to insure that only the desired ownership type was included for each parcel. With a singular shapefile created

for the state, the next step was clipping the shapefile within ArcGIS by the preselected and modified corridor raster produced in the previous steps from Peck et al's study. The last step in this initial process was creating a raster image of the parcel data to be used for the least cost path analyses for parcel prioritization. To accomplish this, ESRI's polygon to raster tool was on the clipped ownership shapefile (Figure 3).



Figure 3. The mosaic of land ownership within the theorized grizzly bear migration corridors.

### Least Cost Path Modeling and Analysis

The raster dataset produced using the methods described above functioned as the base data necessary for the study's least cost path assessments (Figure 4). The first step in the least cost pathway modeling was to reclassify the data to produce cost surfaces based on varying costs for protection and conservation opportunity; three different resistance surfaces were created (Table 1). For the first model, the entire grizzly bear migration pathway created by Peck et al was considered equal. Therefore, the public parcels, private parcels with conservations easements, and unrestricted private lands were all assigned resistance weights equal to one (1). The resulting model then functioned as the control as the resulting LCPs without any regard for ownership were expected to be the shortest. For the second model, the resistance of private parcels without conservation easements are treated as being higher (owing to their higher cost for protection) and were assigned values of two (2); private parcels with conservation easements were treated as equal to public lands and assigned values of one (1) again. The final model considered all three ownership types to be different in their costs for protection. Public lands have a score of one (1), conservation easement restricted private lands have values of two (2), and unencumbered private lands values of three (3).



Figure 4. Overall framework of this study's GIS methods.

Table 1. Associated cost values for each of the three model's resistance surfaces.

Cost Values for Land Ownership Types	Public	Private Land with Conservation Easement	Private Land without Conservation Easement
Model 1	1	1	1
Model 2	1	1	2
Model 3	1	2	3

These scores were based on the assumption that publicly owned land will be protected into the future from development that would negatively impact habitat for grizzly bears and other wildlife. For the past half century this has been largely true due to the protections from federal land use planning regulations, such as the National Forest Management Act, National Environmental Policy Act and, for grizzly bear habitat, the Endangered Species Act (Laschever 2011). Contrary to the protections found on public lands, the private lands within the migration corridors were assumed to have the highest cost for protection. This belief is based on the lack of land-use policy, which is significantly higher than the cost-values of publicly owned land; doing so will represent the high cost associated with removing development rights from land currently unencumbered by restrictions. The most important part of the cost surface valuation was the private land with an already existing conservation easement in place. These lands were given a cost value of two. This is based on the premise that those parcels will already have limited potential for future development because of existing easements, and therefore stronger habitat potential than fully unencumbered parcels. It is important to note that these parcels' conservation easement purposes (e.g., agricultural, forestry, or wildlife habitat related) are not known as such data are not included in the state's dataset. However, regardless of the type of easement it can be assumed that the amount of development and landscape change would be minimized into the future.

With the resistance layers created, the next step was to input the current grizzly bear population range boundaries, as determined by the IGBST, for both the NCDE and GYE populations. These two ranges served as the source and destination for the various LCP model runs. From the two ranges the resistance layer was run in each direction, from GYE to NCDE and from NCDE to GYE, through ESRI's cost distance tool to produce a cost distance and backlink raster for each directional model. Backlinks are an important aspect of a least cost path analysis in that they are a raster dataset showing the least costly movement between cells from the destination to the source. This is

important to note when comparing the final LCP products, with each LCP modeling being run in both directions the lines will not take the same exact course due to geographic locations of parcels and the predetermined least-costly movement direction of each created backlink. The subsequently produced raster images served as the raster foundations for the final stage of the least cost modeling. To further deepen the projects ability to demonstrate the power of LCPs to prioritize parcels, the LCP models 1 and 3 were run using individual corridors within the entire study area (Figure 5). To do so, the GIS masking tool was used to segregate each corridor for two runs, in each direction of potential movement, to allow for more in-depth analyses of how this study's resistance layer creation impacts the prioritization of parcels.



Figure 5. The entire study area from Peck et al's grizzly bear migration corridor study, with the three corridors used for further study within this study.

Following model runs, the ArcGIS's "tabulate intersection spatial analysis tool" was utilized for the LCPs overlaid on the derived cadastral private parcels data to generate statistics describing path length and number of parcels crossed or intersected by each LCP.

### Results

### **Overall Process**

In total, 14 different least cost pathways (LCPs) were created in this study. The LCPs were created using three different cost valuations, and therefore resistance surfaces, within different geographic corridors of the entire grizzly bear migration corridor (Table 2). The three different cost valuations produced markedly different LCPs for the geographic areas they were considered within. To analyze the different cost valuations for their potential benefit for conservation opportunity prioritization, five factors were considered for each LCP in the three different valuation schemes. The five factors were: 1) number of individual parcels each LCP passed over, 2) the percent of the LCPs' footprint over private land, 3) percent over private land with an existing conservation easement, 4) percent over public land, and 5) total LCP length between the population ranges.

Table 2. The different geographic constraints of the project's LCP models within the
project's overall study area.

Geographic Constraints on Pathway Analyses	Entire Study Area	Western Corridor	Central Corridor	Eastern Corridor
Model 1	X	Х	Х	Х
Model 2	X			
Model 3	X	Х	Х	Х

### **Model One: All Equal**

In the first model, with all parcels having equal resistance values (value = 1), which functioned as the control analysis, six LCPs were created (Figure 6). Two LCPs were created over the equal resistance surface, one from NCDE to GYE and one from GYE to NCDE, for each of the three corridors of the grizzly bear pathway model (western, central, and eastern). In this modeling, the LCPs were simply the shortest geographic lines between the two population ranges due to the equal resistance values, hence their ability to function as a control for the other model runs.



Figure 6. LCPs produced from the equal value resistance model of ownership within the project's study area.

The most direct and least costly pathways are within the central corridor of the entire grizzly bear migration corridor. For each direction of LCP modeling in the central corridor, the total distance covered by the LCPs was 121.48 kilometers. When overlaid on parcel data, the LCP from GYE to NCDE in the central corridor intersects 35 individual private parcels, with the LCP from NCDE to GYE intersecting 50 private parcels. Both of these numbers are the lowest for all of the LCP analyses over the entire equal value resistance surface. For the GYE to NCDE LCP, the line passes through public land 59.6% of its total length and 1% of the length over private parcels already under conservation easement directives. These same numbers were 56.5% and 1.8% respectively for the LCP from NCDE to GYE (Table 3). However, the most important metric is the percent of the LCP intersecting private parcels. For the NCDE to GYE LCP 41.7% of the total length intersects private land, while the GYE to NCDE LCP intersects private land 39.4% of its path.

	Number of Private Parcels	Percent of Cost Path Distance on Private	Percent of Cost Path Distance on Conservation Easements	Percent of Cost Path Distance on Public	Length of Cost Path (in Km)
NCDE to GYE (Central)	50	41.7%	1.8%	56.5%	121.48
GYE to NCDE (Central)	35	39.4%	1%	59.6%	121.48

Table 3. Selected metrics for the central corridor's LCPs of the equal resistance model.

While the LCPs in the central corridor of the grizzly bear migration corridor study area are the shortest of the three areas, the LCPs using equal resistance values within the western and eastern corridors of the corridors show higher percentages of their length over public land and private parcels with existing conservation easements. For the western corridor, the LCP from GYE to NCDE stretched 186.68 kilometers and was over public land for 61.2% of its length, with 3.1% over private parcels with conservation easements in place. The LCP from NCDE to GYE in the western corridor is the same length, but only traverses public land for 59.6% of its total length and conservation easement restricted parcels for 3.1%. Despite both paths covering more public land as a percentage of their paths when compared with the central corridor LCP, 37.3% for the NCDE to GYE LCP and 37% for the GYE to NCDE LCP, both LCPs in the western corridor have higher numbers of individual private parcels traversed, with 104 and 142 respectively (Table 4).

	Number of Private Parcels	Percent of Cost Path Distance on Private	Percent of Cost Path Distance on Conservation Easements	Percent of Cost Path Distance on Public	Length of Cost Path (in Km)
NCDE to GYE (West)	104	37.3%	3.1%	59.6%	186.68
GYE to NCDE (West)	142	37%	1.8%	61.2%	186.68

Table 4. Selected metrics for the western corridor's LCPs of the equal resistance model.

The eastern corridors LCPs from the equal value resistance model are interesting in that they differ from one another, which was not the case in the two other geographically isolated corridors of the migration corridor study area. For the LCP running from GYE to NCDE, 64.7% of the path's length is over public land, which is the highest of all LCPs in the equal value model. However, the eastern corridor's LCP from NCDE to GYE only crosses public land for 41.9% of its total length, which was the lowest percentage of all LCPs in the same resistance valuation. More interesting is that this same LCP from NCDE to GYE has the highest amount of length covering private parcels with existing conservation easements, at 13.2%. Additionally, both lines were the longest of the three corridors with total lengths of 196.06 kilometers yet passing through only 89 and 109 individual parcels correspondingly (Table 5).

	Number of Private Parcels	Percent of Cost Path Distance on Private	Percent of Cost Path Distance on Conservation Easements	Percent of Cost Path Distance on Public	Length of Cost Path (in Km)
NCDE to GYE (East)	109	44.9%	13.2%	41.9%	196.06
GYE to NCDE (East)	89	33.6%	1.7%	64.7%	196.06

Table 5. Selected metrics for the eastern corridor's LCPs of the equal resistance model.

For all of the LCPs created within the equal valuation modeling the lowest number of parcels traversed was 35 for the LCP running from GYE to NCDE in the central corridor of the study area, while the highest number was 142 for the same directional LCP in the western corridor. With the resistance surface being equal, these numbers, along with the other collected metrics helped to establish a baseline for prioritization of parcels for protection. This is caused by the LCP for each corridor only selecting for the lowest cost LCP in terms of distance, not assigned conservation opportunity from ownership type.

# Model Two: Public and Private with Conservation Easements Equal Resistance

For the second model, public land and private parcels with conservation easements are considered equal in their conservation opportunity protection costs and private land is considered to be twice as costly, with resistance values of one and two respectively. Unlike the first analysis, only two least cost paths were created moving over the resistance surface between the GYE and NCDE, moving in both directions for the established grizzly bear ranges (Figure 7). The two paths were created by running the analysis over the entire corridor's resistance surface, which meant only the least costly and most direct paths were considered. The reason for this was simply the amount of time and computer analysis additional runs required, as this was neither the least nor most nuanced model it was assumed that one run would provide a comparison with the other models. The resulting paths were located within the central corridor, which is associated with the area's lowest total distance between ranges.



Figure 7. LCPs produced from the public and conservation easement equal resistance model of ownership within the project's study area.

The resulting LCPs created with the resistance model containing values of 1 and 2 are quite different from those created with the equal resistance surface analysis. The LCP running from NCDE to GYE crosses only 28 total individual parcels and is located within public land for 84.2% of its total length. Additionally, the NCDE to GYE LCP had 11.2% of its length over parcels with existing easements. For the LCP from GYE to NCDE in the same analysis, the results are similar. The GYE to NCDE LCP traverses only 30 individual parcels, crosses public lands 82.8% of its length, and crosses parcels with existing conservation easements for 12.7% of its length. In total, the two paths are located within private lands for only 4.6% and 4.5% of their entire reaches, respectively (Table 6).

equal resistance model.						
	Number of Private Parcels	Percent of Cost Path Distance on Private	Percent of Cost Path Distance on Conservation Easements	Percent of Cost Path Distance on Public	Length of Cost Path (in Km)	
NCDE to GYE (Central)	28	4.6%	11.2%	84.2%	133.80	
GYE to NCDE (Central)	30	4.5%	12.7%	82.8%	133.79	

Table 6. Selected metrics for the LCP products of the public and conservation easement equal resistance model.

When compared with the same LCPs from the previous model, each LCP shows decreases in the total number of parcels traversed and the percent of each LCPs' length over private land, which is expected due to the model's resistance values. Consequently, each LCP also shows significant increases in the length of LCP crossing public land and parcels with existing conservation easements. The increases in length over public lands were 27.7% for the NCDE to GYE LCP and 23.2% for the GYE to NCDE LCP. These differences are associated with LCP increased length of only 12.32 kilometers (Table 7).

Central Pathway Differences Between Runs	Difference in Number of Private Parcels	Difference in Percent of Cost Path Distance on Private Parcels	Difference in Percent of Cost Paths Distance on Conservation Easement Parcels	Difference in Percent of Cost Path Distance on Public Land	Difference in Length of Cost Path (in Km)		
Model 1 to 2							
NCDE to GYE	-22	-37.1%	+9.4%	+27.7%	+12.32		
GYE to NCDE	-5	-34.9%	+11.7%	+23.2%	+12.32		

Table 7. Differences between selected metrics of the central corridor's LCPs public and conservation easement equal model compared with the control (Model 1).

### Model Three: Public/Conservation Easements/Private

The third, and final, analysis of this study is the most intricate of the three. In this analysis, public land is given the resistance value of one (1), private parcels with existing conservation easements are scored as two (2), and private parcels are given a value of three (3). As a result, six different LCPs were created, with one running from NCDE to GYE and one from GYE to NCDE for each of the three corridors. Similar to the first analysis of equal resistance values, and unlike the second analysis, this analysis was completed for each of the three corridors within the project's study area. As mentioned previously, this is because the third model is the most varied in valuation of resistance models and, therefore, illustrates the fullest ability of such an analysis. Due to the more variable resistance values used, the LCPs from this analysis have the most complex geographic footprints (Figure 8).



Figure 8. LCPs produced from the public, conservation easement, and private land unequal resistance model of ownership.

The shortest in length of the three sets of LCPs are the two within the central corridor of the grizzly bear migration pathway (Figure 9). Each directional LCP has a total distance of 138.62 kilometers. The LCP from NCDE to GYE intersects only 19 individual private parcels, while the LCP from GYE to NCDE crosses 21 private parcels. Beyond the slight difference in individual parcels traversed, all of the other measured metrics for both lines are identical. The two LCPs intersect public land for 92.9% of their entire length and pass through private parcels with existing conservation easements 4.1% of each segment. This means that for each of the two central corridor LCPs, only 3% of their entire section (4.16 kilometers), is within private parcels (Table 8).



Figure 9. The LCPs from the central corridor of the public, conservation easement, and private land unequal resistance model of ownership.

	Number of Private Parcels	Percent of Cost Path Distance on Private	Percent of Cost Path Distance on Conservation Easements	Percent of Cost Path Distance on Public	Length of Cost Path (in Km)
NCDE to GYE (Central)	19	3%	4.1%	92.9%	138.62
GYE to NCDE (Central)	21	3%	4.1%	92.9%	138.62

Table 8. Selected metrics for the central corridor's LCPs of the public, conservation easement, private land unequal resistance model.

Just as was seen in the first analysis, while the LCPs in the central corridor of the grizzly bear migration pathway study area are the shortest, those same LCPs show lower percentages of their length over public land than the LCPs in the western corridor (Figure 10). For the western corridor, public land accounts for 97.8% of the land over which both LCPs run. This percentage is nearly 5% higher than the next highest, in the central corridor. Conversely, the two LCPs only pass through private parcels 2.1% of their length, the lowest of all three sets of LCPs. With such a small percent of the LCP in private, these lands only account for 4.26 kilometers of each LCPs' 203.78 kilometers, the longest total of the three sets. Of interest is the amount of each LCP running through private parcels with an existing conservation easement; only .1% of each LCP pass across land already under conservation easement restrictions (Table 9).



Figure 10. LCPs from the western corridor of the public, conservation easement, and private land unequal resistance model of ownership.

	Number of Private Parcels	Percent of Cost Path Distance on Private	Percent of Cost Path Distance on Conservation Easements	Percent of Cost Path Distance on Public	Length of Cost Path (in Km)	
Run 3	Cost Values: Public = 1, Conservation Easements = 2, Private = 3					
NCDE to GYE (West)	18	2.1%	.1%	97.8%	203.78	
GYE to NCDE (West)	17	2.1%	.1%	97.8%	203.78	

 Table 9. Selected metrics for the western corridor's LCPs of the public, conservation easement, private land unequal resistance model.

Unlike in the first analysis, where the two different directional LCPs for the eastern corridor have very different metrics, the two LCPs in the eastern section resulting from the third analysis are identical in their underlaying statistics (Table 10) (Figure 11). Each LCP is 199.06 kilometers long, of which 21.89 kilometers crosses private land. This is due to the eastern LCPs having the highest percentage of their length over private parcels at 11%. As would be expected with the highest rates of passage over private land, these LCPs also have the lowest percentage of their length over public land. In total, only 87% of each LCP in the eastern corridor was on private land, which can be seen from a qualitative look at each LCPs' geographic footprint.

	Number of Private Parcels	Percent of Cost Path Distance on Private	Percent of Cost Path Distance on Conservation Easements	Percent of Cost Path Distance on Public	Length of Cost Path (in Km)
NCDE to GYE (East)	52	11%	2%	87%	199.06
GYE to NCDE (East)	51	11%	2%	87%	199.06

Table 10. Selected metrics for the eastern corridor's LCPs of the public, conservation easement, private land unequal resistance model.



Figure 11. LCPs from the eastern section of the public, conservation easement, and private land unequal resistance model of ownership.

For all LCPs in the third analysis, the western corridor shows the lowest number of individual parcels traversed by each LCP, 18 for the NCDE to GYE LCP and 17 for the LCP from GYE to NCDE. This makes logical sense because both LCPs have the lowest percentage of length over private land in comparison with those in the other corridors in this analysis. However, due to the significant length difference between the current western and central corridors, there is a 65.16 kilometer difference in total length between the two, and more of the western LCPs length traversed private land, albeit only 0.1 kilometer more.

From the first analysis to the third, the smallest decrease between LCPs was for the eastern LCP from GYE to NCDE at -22.9% (Table 11). On the opposite end of the spectrum was the central pathway's NCDE to GYE LCP with a difference of -38.7% (Table 11). Decreasing total length traversing private parcels was echoed in the difference of total individual parcels encountered by each LCP. In the western section, the GYE to NCDE LCP passed through 125 less individual parcels from the first analysis to the third (Table 11).

Differences Between Analyses	Difference in Number of Private Parcels	Difference in Percent of Cost Path Distance on Private Parcels	Difference in Percent of Cost Paths Distance on Conservation Easement Parcels	Difference in Percent of Cost Path Distance on Public Land	Difference in Length of Cost Path (in Km)		
Analysis 1 to 3							
NCDE to GYE (Central)	-31	-38.7%	+2.3%	+36.4%	+17.14		
GYE to NCDE (Central)	-14	-36.4%	+3.1%	+33.3%	+17.14		
NCDE to GYE (Eastern)	-57	-33.9%	-11.2%	+45.1%	+12.32		
GYE to NCDE (Eastern)	-38	-22.9%	+.3%	+22.3%	+12.32		
NCDE to GYE (West)	-86	-35.2%	-3%	+38.2%	+17.10		
GYE to NCDE (West)	-125	-34.9%	-1.7%	+36.6%	+17.10		

Table 11. Differences between selected metrics of the LCPs in public, conservation easement, and private unequal model as compared to the control (Model 1).

### Discussion

Multiple potential conservation corridors exist within western Montana that could link the two isolated populations of endangered grizzly bears on protected lands if just over four kilometers of private land is placed under conservation easements (Figure 12 and Tables 8 and 9). That is a finding, that, until this case study, was not previously known. When considered in relation to the future vitality of grizzly bear populations, this study shows that prioritized efforts by local land trusts and other conservation easement holding organizations could focus resources to solve a major conservation goal. This study also shows how important conservation easements are in realizing that goal. While public lands are largely protected from development, as noted previously, their landscape footprint is predominantly set into the future, therefore conservation easements hold the key to protecting connected parcels of necessary wildlife habitat. Additionally, this study and the approach it employed serves as an important bridge between wildlife movement modeling approaches and applied landscape protection studies.

![](_page_50_Figure_0.jpeg)

Figure 12. LCPs from the first (control) and third models, showing the difference in geographic footprint as the intricacy of resistance scoring increased.

In the broader context, this study shows the potential for least cost pathway modeling to help quantify conservation costs associated with creating protected conservation corridors for wildlife species of all sorts, in any landscape. The fact that it can be done using a basic geographic information system is one of the most important aspects of the study. The simplicity of this study's methods demonstrates the power that conservation organizations can use to prioritize conservation easement efforts, depending upon their own designs and goals, to bring about conservation successes.

### **Overall Case Study Outcomes**

The products of this case study show that there truly is great potential for connecting the long isolated grizzly bear populations of western Montana through a protected landscape. Whether the different models are utilized to quantify and identify parcels for protection, or total length of distance on protected public lands, there are obvious examples of how LCPs can inform and quantify the conservation efforts needed. Model 3, which accounts for both the impact of unprotected private lands on potential travel and the cost of acquiring these lands, clearly shows that prioritizing parcels based on conservation opportunity is possible. The clearest indicator of this is through the percent of length each LCP spent traversing private land, which can be seen very clearly in Table 11. In total, the connection could be made with only 17 conservation easements, which is a surprisingly low number. However, the LCP models have broader utility because they can be used to identify areas in which conservation organizations should focus outreach and other resources. This LCP modeling approach can also be utilized to adjust for information or knowledge that is gained relating to individual owner preferences for conservation easement establishment. But isolating singular parcels for

protection is only of so much importance. Instead, being able to identify areas that emerge as LCP bottlenecks by is also of immense value.

For example, looking at the LCPs produced in Model run 3 for the western and central corridors, one can clearly see that these enter and exit the GYE from the same location (Figure 6). Therefore, it is clear that the private parcels within that area have high importance for the establishment of conservation corridors connecting to this source/destination area. In this case, the parcels are roughly between the towns of Ennis and Norris. With this information, land trusts can begin to use their limited resources individually or in larger landscape collaboratives to construct plans to target these most important regions. Additionally, there are other areas in which both the second and third models pass, which suggests that they may have similar importance. And from the geographic footprint of any LCP, much can be learned for conservation action on a broader scale.

In a similar sense, the LCPs also identify geographically specific areas within large infrastructure projects that are likely to impact the movement and actions of grizzly bears. Grizzly bears have shown a negative response to movement across large roadways and have increased mortality in areas with high traffic. In parts of the grizzly bears' northern range, highway overpasses and roadway shoulder fencing has shown to decrease grizzly bear mortality and increase movement potential (Cushman, Lewis, and Landguth 2014). Throughout western Montana, highways and interstates bisect the movement corridors created by Peck et al's original study. The LCPs created in this study show specific points on many of those roadways where focused conservation action has the lowest total cost for corridor protection. Therefore, the LCPs' intersections with these same roadways could serve to maximize the conservation benefit from wildlife friendly infrastructure at these points. Along with roadways, this same benefit of identifying specific points on roadways could do the same for many other development types, such as pipelines or powerlines.

### **Study Issues**

Despite this project's ability to produce defensible and useful products, there are several ways in which this project's methods and models might be improved. One main issue is simply related to the geographic area in which the case study takes place. Western Montana is a patchwork of different ownership types, which is not unlike the rest of the country and world. However, unlike the rest of the country and world, western Montana is unique in its amount of land under some sort of public ownership. Throughout the western United States, federal agencies like the Forest Service and Bureau of Land Management are responsible for management of large swaths of public lands. Montana as a state has the twelfth highest percentage of land under federal ownership in the country, and most of that exists in the state's western half. Therefore, this study's LCPs were heavily influenced by the amount of public land. Different landscapes with lower amounts of public lands are less likely to produce such clean and clear-cut prioritization outcomes. Instead, LCP modeling in less public land-centric regions is likely to produce greater variation in outcomes (geographic footprints, number of parcels, etc.). Future testing of this approach in a landscape with a higher amount of private land would likely yield much different results and further test the overall feasibility of such a prioritization modeling.

Another shortcoming of the approach used in this study is that parcels were not scored relative to size. In general, larger parcels hold higher conservation opportunity

due to the ratio of transaction cost to acreage protection values. In the approach used here, larger parcels are penalized for their size because each individual pixel adds to the total cost of movement. To combat this issue, pixels corresponding to each individual parcel would need to be scored for the parcel's relative size and shape, thus approximating estimated or true costs; additional GIS operations would be required to make produce the raster-based cost surface to accomplish this. This would also require that assumptions or decision rules be developed and employed based on expert knowledge, but that may be imperfect. This issue, unlike the issue of ownership patchworks, is potentially solvable and could be a next step in the model. However, it should be noted that such rules and additional steps in the GIS design would eliminate some of the simplicity and benefit of the basic LCP analysis.

Another area of importance when considering this project is that of cost value scoring. Resistance values are subjective, like in this study, and that brings with it the potential for bias. Instead of a concrete number derived arbitrarily, resistance values for nearly all LCP analyses are set by "experts" in the field. This is of importance because any resistance values have the power to completely change the outcome of an entire study. This study's three different analyses illustrate this issue very clearly. In Model 1, which acts as a control, the equal values produce only the shortest path. From there, as cost values increase and resistance surfaces become more intricate, LCPs start to behave quite differently and are highly dependent upon the range and location of the values. For this study's, and any other LCP analyses, to be stronger and more credible "experts" must be consulted to produce about stronger and more robust products that better represent the actual cost associated with model's goals.

While there are issues with this study's framework, such as those identified above, this study was conducted primarily for the purpose of testing an approach that future prioritization models might follow and expand from. In addition to simply using ownership type to create resistance values for protection, future modeling using a similar approach would be able to include additional geographic information to further identity parcels or groups of parcels for focused conservation action. Examples of such geographic datasets could potentially include additional values for intensity of development or proximity of infrastructure. However, it should be noted that by adding in additional datasets and values the study becomes much more complicated and many such variables would likely be included in the original biophysical modeling of wildlife movement, such as in the case of this study's base migration data.

### **Further Research and Implementation**

Beyond the scope of this project, this study can be refined in many ways to help land trusts and other conservation organizations identify and protect key parcels to bring about success in landscape protection. The most important aspect is the creation of a base GIS model (Figure 4) that can be utilized for similar case studies in specific species related work or on broader landscape characteristic prioritization by creating LCPs. However, another key aspect of this study is the responsiveness of the model to slight changes in the resistance surface and cost valuation. The model showed how important the change in cost values were in producing different corridor conservation outcomes. This same responsiveness could be used to identify "keystone" parcels that would create large changes to the overall path of the model's LPCs should these be placed under easements. To do this, a modeler would simply need to edit the base data

for conservation easements in the data acquisition phase of the methods for singular parcels and then run the complete model. By comparing the underlying data for LCPs prior to and after editing the resistance surface, land trusts and other conservation organizations could consider the importance of individual parcels on protecting an entire corridor.

This same responsiveness and ease of running the model is also very important in that changing ownership types, or even subdivision of large parcels, could be done in almost real-time. With the model in place to merge, clip, and join base level ownership data, changes to any aspect of the individual datasets could be seamlessly updated and subsequently help to adjust conservation planning. These changes could have significant impacts upon the overall dynamics of a potential corridor, and being able to adjust quickly would allow for conservation action with limited resources.

### Conclusion

While only one small case study, this project shows the potential for least cost pathway (LCP) analyses to prioritize land parcels based on perceived conservation opportunity. At the most basic level, LCP modeling can be quite simple to employ and produce important knowledge not otherwise easily obtained. Similar projects adapted for this or other study areas would not require intensive modification of methods or extensive research into new products for geospatial analysis to produce meaningful outcomes. However, to make future work like this more impactful over large landscapes, such as in the case study, communication and interorganizational planning needs to take place. Conservation easements, and factors related to their implementation, were the focus of the methods for this project. But the same approach would be useful for fee simple purchase prioritization or even stewardship practices.

If biodiversity is to be maintained utilizing corridor protection of different sorts around the world, more studies like this need to be completed. Bringing together the immense knowledge bases within the fields of wildlife movement modeling and habitat protection is key to realizing actual on-the-ground benefits. Moving into the future, the need for more conservation action will only increase, just as the available resources for that action will continue to be stretched further and further. When used together with collaborative planning at a landscape level, this study's blueprint and methods hold the potential to save time, money, and energy in the difficult work of conserving our natural world.

### References

- Arponen, Anni. 2012. "Prioritizing Species for Conservation Planning." *Biodivers Conserv* 21: 875–93. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-012-0242-1.
- Baldwin, Rob, Ryan Scherzinger, Don Lipscomb, Miranda Mockrin, Susan Stein, and Susan 2014 Stein. 2014. "Planning for Land Use and Conservation: Assessing GIS-Based Conservation Software for Land Use Planning." https://www.fs.fed.us/rm/pubs/rmrs\_rn070.pdf.
- Bastian, Christopher T., Catherine M.H. Keske, Donald M. McLeod, and Dana L. Hoag. 2017. "Landowner and Land Trust Agent Preferences for Conservation Easements: Implications for Sustainable Land Uses and Landscapes." *Landscape and Urban Planning* 157 (January): 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2016.05.030.
- Beier, Paul, Dan Majka, Shawn Newell, and Emily Garding. 2008. "Best Management Practices for Wildlife Corridors I. Practices for Roads, Canals, and Railroads That Cross Corridors." http://corridordesign.org/dl/docs/corridordesign.org\_BMPs\_for\_Corridors.pdf.
- Beier, Paul, Daniel R Majka, and Wayne D Spencer. 2008. "Forks in the Road: Choices in Procedures for Designing Wildland Linkages." *Conservation Biology : The Journal of the Society for Conservation Biology* 22 (4): 836–51. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2008.00942.x.
- Bjornlie, Daniel D., Daniel J. Thompson, Mark A. Haroldson, Charles C. Schwartz, Kerry A. Gunther, Steven L. Cain, Daniel B. Tyers, Kevin L. Frey, and Bryan C. Aber. 2014. "Methods to Estimate Distribution and Range Extent of Grizzly Bears in the Greater Yellowstone Ecosystem." *Wildlife Society Bulletin* 38 (1): 182–87. https://doi.org/10.1002/wsb.368.
- Bottrill, Madeleine C., and Robert L. Pressey. 2012. "The Effectiveness and Evaluation of Conservation Planning." *Conservation Letters*. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-263X.2012.00268.x.
- Brooks, T. M., R. A. Mittermeier, G. A.B. Da Fonseca, J. Gerlach, M. Hoffmann, J. F. Lamoreux, C. G. Mittermeier, J. D. Pilgrim, and A. S.L. Rodrigues. 2006. "Global Biodiversity Conservation Priorities." *Science*. American Association for the Advancement of Science. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1127609.
- Carroll, Carlos, Reed F Noss, and Paul C Paquet. 2001. "Carnivores and Focal Species for Conservation Planning in the Rocky Mountain Region." Vol. 11. https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/f4e9/b832675b4588710ee5946be8defb40a5c539 .pdf.
- Clevenger, Anthony P., Jack Wierzchowski, Bryan Chruszcz, and Kari Gunson. 2002. "GIS-Generated, Expert-Based Models for Identifying Wildlife Habitat Linkages and Planning Mitigation Passages." *Conservation Biology* 16 (2): 503–14.

https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.2002.00328.x.

- Clucas, Barbara, Katherine McHugh, and Tim Caro. 2008. "Flagship Species on Covers of US Conservation and Nature Magazines." *Biodiversity and Conservation* 17 (6): 1517–28. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-008-9361-0.
- Copeland, Holly E., Amy Pocewicz, David E. Naugle, Tim Griffiths, Doug Keinath, Jeffrey Evans, and James Platt. 2013. "Measuring the Effectiveness of Conservation: A Novel Framework to Quantify the Benefits of Sage-Grouse Conservation Policy and Easements in Wyoming." Edited by Mark S. Boyce. *PLoS ONE* 8 (6): e67261. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0067261.
- Cushman, Samuel A., Kevin S. McKelvey, and Michael K. Schwartz. 2009. "Use of Empirically Derived Source-Destination Models to Map Regional Conservation Corridors." *Conservation Biology* 23 (2): 368–76. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2008.01111.x.
- Cushman, Samuel A, Jesse S Lewis, and Erin L Landguth. 2013. "Evaluating the Intersection of a Regional Wildlife Connectivity Network with Highways." *Movement Ecology* 1 (1): 12. https://doi.org/10.1186/2051-3933-1-12.
- Cushman, Samuel, Jesse Lewis, and Erin Landguth. 2014. "Why Did the Bear Cross the Road? Comparing the Performance of Multiple Resistance Surfaces and Connectivity Modeling Methods." *Diversity* 6 (4): 844–54. https://doi.org/10.3390/d6040844.
- Dilkina, Bistra, Rachel Houtman, Carla P. Gomes, Claire A. Montgomery, Kevin S. McKelvey, Katherine Kendall, Tabitha A. Graves, Richard Bernstein, and Michael K. Schwartz. 2017. "Trade-Offs and Efficiencies in Optimal Budget-Constrained Multispecies Corridor Networks." *Conservation Biology* 31 (1): 192–202. https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.12814.
- Farmer, James R, Doug Knapp, Vicky J Meretsky, Charles Chancellor, and Burnell C Fischer. 2011. "Motivations Influencing the Adoption of Conservation Easements." *Conservation Biology* 25 (4): 827–34. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2011.01686.x.
- Feldhamer, George A, B C Thompson, and J A Chapman. 2003. *Wild Mammals of North America: Biology, Management, and Conservation*. 2nd ed. Johns Hopkins University Press. https://doi.org/10.1644/1545-1542.
- Gosnell, Hannah, Julia H. Haggerty, and William R. Travis. 2006. "Ranchland Ownership Change in the Greater Yellowstone Ecosystem, 1990-2001: Implications for Conservation." *Society and Natural Resources* 19 (8): 743–58. https://doi.org/10.1080/08941920600801181.
- Hardy, R. Dean, Jeffrey Hepinstall-Cymerman, and Laurie Fowler. 2016. "Prioritizing Conservation Easement Recruitment Efforts: A Policy-Informed Conservation

Assessment of Private Land." *Southeastern Geographer* 56 (1): 81–100. https://doi.org/10.1353/sgo.2016.0004.

- Hautier, Yann, David Tilman, Forest Isbell, Eric W. Seabloom, Elizabeth T. Borer, and Peter B. Reich. 2015. "Anthropogenic Environmental Changes Affect Ecosystem Stability via Biodiversity." *Science* 348 (6232): 336–40. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaa1788.
- Iftekhar, M.S., and J.G. Tisdell. 2014. "Wildlife Corridor Market Design: An Experimental Analysis of the Impact of Project Selection Criteria and Bidding Flexibility." *Ecological Economics* 104 (August): 50–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECOLECON.2014.04.017.
- Keeley, Annika T.H., Galli Basson, D. Richard Cameron, Nicole E. Heller, Patrick R. Huber, Carrie A. Schloss, James H. Thorne, and Adina M. Merenlender. 2018.
  "Making Habitat Connectivity a Reality." *Conservation Biology* 32 (6): 1221–32. https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.13158.
- Kendall, Katherine C., Jeffrey B. Stetz, John Boulanger, Amy C. Macleod, David Paetkau, and Gary C. White. 2009. "Demography and Genetic Structure of a Recovering Grizzly Bear Population." *Journal of Wildlife Management* 73 (1): 3–17. https://doi.org/10.2193/2008-330.
- Lande, Russell. 1998. "Anthropogenic, Ecological and Genetic Factors in Extinction and Conservation." *Researches on Population Ecology* 40 (3): 259–69. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02763457.
- Laschever, Eric S. 2011. "The Endangered Species Act and Its Role in Land Use Planning: Lessons Learned from the Pacific Northwest." *Seattle Journal of Environmental Law.* Vol. 1. http://digitalcommons.law.seattleu.edu/sjelhttp://digitalcommons.law.seattleu.ed u/sjel/vol1/iss1/6.
- Lee, Jung A, Jinhyung Chon, and Changwoo Ahn. 2011. "Planning Landscape Corridors in Ecological Infrastructure Using Least-Cost Path Methods Based on the Value of Ecosystem Services." *Sustainability* 6: 7564–85. https://doi.org/10.3390/su6117564.
- Lombard, Amanda T, Richard M Cowling, Jan H J Vlok, and Christo Fabricius. 2010. "Designing Conservation Corridors in Production Landscapes Assessment Methods, Implementation Issues, and Lessons Learned." http://www.ecologyandsociety.org/vol15/iss3/art7/.
- Mace, Richard D., Daniel W. Carney, Tonya Chilton-Radandt, Stacy A. Courville, Mark A. Haroldson, Richard B. Harris, James Jonkel, et al. 2012. "Grizzly Bear Population Vital Rates and Trend in the Northern Continental Divide Ecosystem, Montana." *The Journal of Wildlife Management* 76 (1): 119–28. https://doi.org/10.1002/jwmg.250.

- Main, Martin B., Fritz M. Roka, and Reed F. Noss. 1999. "Evaluating Costs of Conservation." *Conservation Biology* 13 (6): 1262–72. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.1999.98006.x.
- Margules, C. R., and R. L. Pressey. 2000. "Systematic Conservation Planning." *Nature*. Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/35012251.
- Mateo-Sánchez, M. C., S. A. Cushman, and S. Saura. 2014. "Connecting Endangered Brown Bear Subpopulations in the Cantabrian Range (North-Western Spain)." *Animal Conservation* 17 (5): 430–40. https://doi.org/10.1111/acv.12109.
- Minin, Enrico Di, and Atte Moilanen. 2014. "Improving the Surrogacy Effectiveness of Charismatic Megafauna with Well-surveyed Taxonomic Groups and Habitat Types." *Journal of Applied Ecology* 51 (2): 281–88. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12203@10.1111/(ISSN)1365-2664.CONSERVEVIDENCE.
- Naidoo, Robin, Andrew Balmford, Paul J. Ferraro, Stephen Polasky, Taylor H. Ricketts, and Mathieu Rouget. 2006. "Integrating Economic Costs into Conservation Planning." *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*. Elsevier Current Trends. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2006.10.003.
- Newbold, Tim, Lawrence N. Hudson, Andrew P. Arnell, Sara Contu, Adriana De Palma, Simon Ferrier, Samantha L.L. Hill, et al. 2016. "Has Land Use Pushed Terrestrial Biodiversity beyond the Planetary Boundary? A Global Assessment." *Science* 353 (6296): 291–288. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaf2201.
- Nobrega, R A A, C G O'hara, R Sadasivuni, and J Dumas. 2009. "Bridging Decision-Making Process and Environmental Needs in Corridor Planning." *An International Journal* 20 (6): 1477–7835. https://doi.org/10.1108/14777830910990744.
- Parks, S A, and A H Harcourt. 2002. "Reserve Size, Local Human Density, and Mammalian Extinctions in U.S. Protected Areas." *Conservation Biology*. Vol. 16. http://winapps.umt.edu/winapps/media2/leopold/pubs/724.pdf.
- Peck, Christopher P., Frank T. van Manen, Cecily M. Costello, Mark A. Haroldson, Lisa A. Landenburger, Lori L. Roberts, Daniel D. Bjornlie, and Richard D. Mace. 2017.
  "Potential Paths for Male-Mediated Gene Flow to and from an Isolated Grizzly Bear Population." *Ecosphere* 8 (10): e01969. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.1969.
- Perkl, Ryan M. 2016. "Geodesigning Landscape Linkages: Coupling GIS with Wildlife Corridor Design in Conservation Planning." *Landscape and Urban Planning* 156 (December): 44–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.LANDURBPLAN.2016.05.016.
- Pressey, Robert L., Piero Visconti, and Paul J. Ferraro. 2015. "Making Parks Make a Difference: Poor Alignment of Policy, Planning and Management with Protected-Area Impact, and Ways Forward." *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*. Royal Society of London. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2014.0280.

- Proctor, Michael F., Scott E. Nielsen, Wayne F. Kasworm, Chris Servheen, Thomas G. Radandt, A. Grant Machutchon, and Mark S. Boyce. 2015. "Grizzly Bear Connectivity Mapping in the Canada-United States Trans-Border Region." *The Journal of Wildlife Management* 79 (4): 544–58. https://doi.org/10.1002/jwmg.862.
- Proctor, Michael F., David Paetkau, Bruce N. Mclellan, Gordon B. Stenhouse, Katherine C. Kendall, Richard D. Mace, Wayne F. Kasworm, et al. 2012. "Population Fragmentation and Inter-Ecosystem Movements of Grizzly Bears in Western Canada and the Northern United States." *Wildlife Monographs* 180 (1): 1–46. https://doi.org/10.1002/wmon.6.
- Pullinger, Michael G., and Chris J. Johnson. 2010. "Maintaining or Restoring Connectivity of Modified Landscapes: Evaluating the Least-Cost Path Model with Multiple Sources of Ecological Information." *Landscape Ecology* 25 (10): 1547–60. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-010-9526-6.
- Remme, Roy P., and Matthias Schröter. 2016. "Effects of Budget Constraints on Conservation Network Design for Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services." *Ecological Complexity* 26 (June): 45–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecocom.2016.03.006.
- Rissman, Adena R, LYNN Lozier, Tosha Comendant, Peter Kareiva, Joseph M Kiesecker, M Rebecca Shaw, and Adina M Merenlender. 2007. "Conservation Easements: Biodiversity Protection and Private Use." *Conservation Biology* 21 (3): 709–18. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2007.00660.x.
- Rudnick, Deborah A, Sadie J Ryan, Paul Beier, Samuel A Cushman, Fred Dieffenbach, Clinton W Epps, Leah R Gerber, et al. 2012. "The Role of Landscape Connectivity in Planning and Implementing Conservation and Restoration Priorities."
- Said, Mohammed Y., Joseph O. Ogutu, Shem C. Kifugo, Ogeli Makui, Robin S. Reid, and Jan de Leeuw. 2016. "Effects of Extreme Land Fragmentation on Wildlife and Livestock Population Abundance and Distribution." *Journal for Nature Conservation* 34 (December): 151–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JNC.2016.10.005.
- Schuster, Richard, and Peter Arcese. 2015. "Effects of Disputes and Easement Violations on the Cost-Effectiveness of Land Conservation." *PeerJ* 3: e1185. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.1185.
- Shafer, Craig L. 2015. "Land Use Planning: A Potential Force for Retaining Habitat Connectivity in the Greater Yellowstone Ecosystem and Beyond." *Global Ecology and Conservation*. Elsevier B.V. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2014.12.003.
- Shirabe, Takeshi. 2018. "Buffered or Bundled, Least-Cost Paths Are Not Least-Cost Corridors: Computational Experiments on Path-Based and Wide-Path-Based Models for Conservation Corridor Design and Effective Distance Estimation." *Ecological Informatics* 44 (March): 109–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECOINF.2018.02.002.

- Snyder, Stephanie A., Jay H. Whitmore, Ingrid E. Schneider, and Dennis R. Becker. 2008. "Ecological Criteria, Participant Preferences and Location Models: A GIS Approach toward ATV Trail Planning." *Applied Geography*. 28: 248-258. 28. https://www.fs.usda.gov/treesearch/pubs/18906.
- Stokes, David L., Marian F. Hanson, Deborah D. Oaks, Jaime E. Straub, and Aileen V. Ponio. 2010. "Local Land-Use Planning to Conserve Biodiversity: Planners' Perspectives on What Works." *Conservation Biology* 24 (2): 450–60. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2009.01356.x.
- Stroman, Dianne A, Urs P Kreuter, and Jianbang Gan. 2016. "Balancing Property Rights and Social Responsibilities: Perspectives of Conservation Easement Landowners ☆." Rangeland Ecology & Management 70: 255–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rama.2016.11.001.
- Vizek, Ashley, and Max Nielsen-Pincus. 2017. "Landowner Attitudes Toward Conservation Easements: Balancing the Private and Public Interest in Land." *Society and Natural Resources* 30 (9): 1080–95. https://doi.org/10.1080/08941920.2017.1331486.
- Walker, Richard E, and Frank Lance Craighead. 1997. "Analyzing Wildlife Movement Corridors in Montana Using GIS." https://www.researchgate.net/publication/297734026.
- Wang, Ian J., Wesley K. Savage, and Bradley H. Shaffer. 2009. "Landscape Genetics and Least-Cost Path Analysis Reveal Unexpected Dispersal Routes in the California Tiger Salamander (Ambystoma Californiense)." *Molecular Ecology* 18 (7): 1365– 74. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2009.04122.x.
- White, P. J. (Patrick James), Kerry A. Gunther, Frank T. Van Manen, and Daniel D.
   Bjornlie. 2017. Yellowstone Grizzly Bears : Ecology and Conservation of an Icon of Wildness. https://pubs.er.usgs.gov/publication/70189120.
- Zeller, Katherine A., Kevin McGarigal, and Andrew R. Whiteley. 2012. "Estimating Landscape Resistance to Movement: A Review." *Landscape Ecology*. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-012-9737-0.
- Zeller, Katherine A., T. Winston Vickers, Holly B. Ernest, and Walter M. Boyce. 2017. "Multi-Level, Multi-Scale Resource Selection Functions and Resistance Surfaces for Conservation Planning: Pumas as a Case Study." *PLoS ONE* 12 (6). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0179570.